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SUMMARY DESCRIPTION 

The north-facing La Vista is approached by a long narrow, gravel drive. La Vista is a Greek Revival-style 
dwelling with early- and mid-twentieth century additions in a ten-acre rural setting located several hundred feet 
from Guinea Station Road (SR 607) in Spotsylvania County, Virginia. Constructed around 1855, by owner Gray 
Boulware of Caroline County, the main block is a two-story, frame, single-pile, hip-roofed dwelling with a raised 
brick basement. Other features include a three-bay-wide facade, 616 light, double-hung sash windows, and two 
interior-end brick chimneys. The most s w i g  element of the main facade is the original two-story, single-bay, 
pedimented porch which is supported by fluted Doric columns. The brick foundation is laid in five-course common 
bond, while the roof is covered with standing-seam metal. 

The contributing elements of the property include: the main dwelling house, one outbuilding, (formerly the 
smokehouse), the Boulware family burial grounds, and several century plus old tulip poplars, cedars, pecan, holly, 
and Kentucky coffee trees in the immediate vicinity of the house. Noncontributing structures include two modem 
outhuildiigs, a windmill, and a covered well. 

ARCHITECTURAL ANALYSIS 

La Vista is a Greek Revival-style two-story, three-bay, frame dwelling with two interior-end brick 
chimneys and an English basement. Both of the chimneys exhibit exposed brick laid flush with the weatherboard 
siding of the main block. This method of construction has been observed in two other Spotsylvania County 
dwellings. Although the central-passage-plan, single-pile, weatherboard-clad plantation house was erected around 
1855, a Federal-style form persists as evidenced by the building's rectangular shape, low-pitched hipped roof, and 
minimal exterior decoration. The house has Greek Revival-style elements such as a two-story, single-bay, columned 
portico, a horizontal transom above the center door, and bold ornamental mouldings on both the exterior and 
interior elevations. 

The Greek Revival style was extremely popular in Spotsylvania County, filtering down to even the modest 
of rural farmhouses. Generally, grand houses featured a columned portico supporting a triangular pediment. La 
Vista's original pedimented portico with fluted Doric columns and paneled pilasters exhibits such grandeur. The 
upper-story columns support a pediment that has both a plain ftiezc and architrave. Sometime in the early twentieth 
century, the two interior polychrome columns on each level were removed. The existing plain wooden balustrade 
mimics the original version, s t a i~  handrails having been added for safety.' 

The majority of the original fenestration remains; however, the basement windows have been replaced with 
six-light, double-hung sashes on the principal facade while on the east wall, pointed-arched windows 6om the mid- 
1940s are found. The windows are consistent in the main block; six-over-six light, double-hung sashes on the fust 
and second floors, and a single, four-over-four light window in the west elevation second story. The main entrance 
door, located on the north elevation, is a single-leaf door topped by a transom and flanked by sidelights above a 
wooden paneled apron. 

The interior plan has a wide central passage with a single nineteen-foot-square room on either side. Eleven- 
foot-high ceilings are in the parlor on the east side of the hall and the bed chamber on the west side. The Greek 
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Revival woodwork throughout the frst floor is rich in detail. All three rooms cany their original baseboards, and 
window and door surrounds. Acorn and oak leaf comer block mouldings highlight the intenor doors and windows, 
while projecting base blocks join moulded casings which s k i  the floor. The original four panel doors have raised 
square panels below the lock rail and rectangular panels above the lock rail. The mantel shelves in both rooms are 
supported by quarter round mouldings and the mantel faces are nearly identical. The walls throughout the house are 
painted plaster and the original floors are made of random-width heart pine? 

In the center passage the entrance door is surmounted by a rectangular thirteen-light transom and flanked 
by six-light sidelights with a dado panel in the lower portion. The main stair has a turned wooden newel and oval 
hand rail, both of which are mahogany. There are two balusters for each tread and the painted balusters are 
rectangular in section. There are scroll mouldings at the open string of each step and the stair is enclosed beneath the 
string with a plastered wall plane. 

Directly below the stainiay is an open-string, single-run staircase that leads to the finished English 
basement and what was originally the kitchen and the family dining room. The basement dining room was located 
directly below the fust-floor parlor. It has painted plaster walls, vertical double-paneled wood doors, and the floois 
are now covered with carpet. The fireplaces in the kitchen and former dining room, currently a bedroom, have no 
mantels. The 1946 alterations in the raised basement include the modernization of the existing kitchen, and the 
replacement of original 616 double-hung windows in the east elevation with pointed-arched wood casement units. 

Located atop the stair landmg on the second floor is an outside opening to the portico. Except for the 
omission of a transom and comer blocks, the treatment of the four-panel door and sidelights is identical with the 
fiont door below. To the east is a bedchamber with a simple mantelpiece. The western room has been altered to 
include an upstairs bathroom. The upstairs spaces still retain their original mouldings, wood floors, and doors. A 
tripartite window is situated above the platform between the two flights of stairs. 

The dwelling remained in its original form until the twentieth century when three separate building 
campaigns were introduced. In 1932, soon after La Vista was acquired by Frederick Kirchmier, a retired naval chief 
petty officer, numerous improvements were made including the installation of electricity, centpl heat, and indoor 
plumbing. A story-and-a-half, m e  and brick, gable-roofedextension was built onto the west elevation to house a 
bathroom. Below this space an exterior eneance to the basement was added and the walls were covered with 
asbestos shingle siding. Later, around 1946, a one-and-one-half-story, telescopic, wooden addition was appended to 
the main block's rear center passage. It contained a dining room, kitchen and sun room on the f is t  floor, while the 
raised basement had a bedroom, bathroom, and a garage. The majority of the windows were wooden casement units 
and gable and shed roofs were sheathed with corrugated metal. In 1990 the current owners enlarged the 
southernmost end of the 1946 addition so that the gable-end roof became a hipped roof and the garage was 
converted to a laundry room. The casement windows were replaced with 616 light double-hung sashes. The new rear 
entry has Classical elements and loosely replicates the facade portico. The entire rear elevation is sheathed with 
weatherboard siding, the foundation is covered with a smooth-finished painted concrete, and the roof has standing- 
seam metal. This section of the house is immediately behind the main block and cannot be seen when viewed from 
the principal elevation. Its design is sympathetic to the original dwelling. 

Situated east and west of the house are three outbuildings. The henhouse to the east, and the garage at the 
west were erected by the cutrent owners. Each is a single-story, frame building clad with weatherboard siding. The 
henhouse has a pyramidal roof while the garage has a hipped roof. Just east of the garage one contributing building 
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survives: a frame smokehouse that may date from the late nineteenth century. It has an asphalt-shingle pyramidal 
roof, weatherboard siding, and an interior brick chimney stack. 

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

La Vista built for physician-planter Alfred J. Boulware, son of wealthy Caroline County landowner Gray 
Boulware, in 1855, is eligible for National Register listing under Criterion C in architecture. The dwelling 
exemplifies the popular mid-nineteenth century central-passage, single-pile floor plan and is Spotsylvania County's 
only remaining frame Greek Revival-style house with its original two-story portico. It is a fiiely detailed 
representation of a transitional building which utilizes massing concepts of the Federal-style and embellished on the 
interior with Greek Revival-style trimwork. La Vista possesses the requisite quality of integrity to convey its 
architectural significance and retains its integrity of location, design, materials, workmanship, feeling, and 
association. The early- and mid-twentieth-century additions are older than fifty years of age and their scale, 
massing, and form are in keeping with the original design and character of the main block. When originally 
purchased in 1838 by Gray Boulware, the properly encompassed about 1,000 acres. Between 1857, after the death 
of his father, and 1870, Dr. Alfied and Mrs. Boulware developed the agricultural potential of La Vista. Following 
the death of the doctor in 1870, the plantation was reduced in acreage and in 1902 passed out of the Boulware 
family. La Vista presently encompasses ten acres. 

HISTORIC CONTEXT 

La Vista lies on land originally part of the Warner Patent, specifically the 1672 John Lewis Tract. It was 
owned later by Fielding Lewis, brother-in-law of George Washington, and after him by Thomas Minor, a 
Revolutionary War veteran. In 1837, a 1,000-acre parcel of the land was purchased by Leroy and Elizabeth 
Boulware (pronounced Bowler) for ten thousand dollars. Just two years later, in 1839, the same land was bought for 
fifteen thousand dollars by Leroy's uncle, Gray Boulware of Caroline ~ o u n t y . ~  Boulware was a wealthy landowner 
who lived at nearby Acadia, his primary residence which was located approximately seven miles north of Bowling 
Green, on land now occupied by Fort A. P.   ill.' Boulware had three sons and one daughter. His youngest son, 
Alfred Jackson Boulware (1828-1870). obtained his medicaLdegree from the University of Virginia and maintained 
a practice in Caroline ~oun ty?  In his father-in-law's home, on November 15, 1853, Alfred Boulware wed Ann Trip 
Slaughter (1 828- 1873) of Rappahannock ~ o u n t y . ~  

Gray Boulware, notwithstanding his ownership of the thousand-acre tract since 1839, waited until after his 
son's marriage to build the main dwelling house. Spotsylvania County land tax records on the property in the 1840s 
consistently valued the land at tm thousand dollars while indicating only six hundred dollars of improvements.' Into 
the decade of the 1850s the value remained tittle changed. The fust year that a notable change is detected is 1856, 
when the property was valued at eighteen thousand dollars with $3200 attributed to buildings.' Apparently, during 
the ten year period between I850 and 1860, farm pmpetty values skyrocketed (171 percent increase) although the 
increase in farm property was common throughout the commonwealth during this period of agricultural prosperity.9 

For the 1840s decade, personal property tax records reveal that Gray Boulware, on average, annually paid 
$6.66 for taxes on 3 1 slaves and 9 horses, mares, mules, and colts.1° There were no other items of value at the place 
then called The Grove. Personal property taxes for the years between 1853 and I855 illushate that Gray Boulware 
continued to pay taxes on horses, cows, and slaves but not on any major improvements to The Grove. However in 
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the tax year of 1856, additional property is assessed and valued including items such as carts and wagons, watches 
and clocks, household and kitchen furniture. His total taxes owed amounted to $32.18--more than twice the amount 
from the previous year." The 1855 date of construction of the house can therefore be inferred from these tax 
records. Gray Boulware died in February 1857. Several months later, when the county tax assessor determined that 
the property contained 145 head of cattle, sheep, hogs valued at $820 and a new category, which captured the value 
of gold and silver, and jewelry. In 1857, Alfred Boulware assumed payment of taxes on the property totaling 
$41.15. In 1858 the amount due climbed to $49.43, which included taxes on a piano valued alone at $150. A steady 
rise in the value of Alfred Boulware's ersonal property can be detected up to and including 1861, when the 
physician owed $52.32 to the county. I 4  

La Vista is an example of the Federal and Greek Revival styles of building that were especially popular in 
Virginia during the fmt half of the nineteenth century, a time of agricultural change in Virginia. Many Tidewater 
area residents were migrating to the Piedmont or funher south and west to states and territories in search of new 
lands on which to grow cotton. 'Ifred Boulware and his family remained in Spotsylvania County and prospered. La 
Vista is a reflection of Boulware's wealth, and it is also a reflection of his and his father's architectural preferences. 

Dr. Boulware inherited The Grove after his father's death and moved his family into the house after the 
inventory of his father's estate was taken in April, 1857." Sometime before 1860 the Boulware heir, his young 
family, and domestic slaves are shown posed in front of the new home, renamed "La Vista." The name may refer to 
the property's unobshucted view of the Ni River to the south where the river wends its way through Spotsylvania 
County. The family portrait was captured by an unknown daguerreotypist on what was one of the fust ante-bellum 
daguerreotypes of an architectural subject in Virginia. It is housed in the Virginia Historical society.14 

In addition to his role as a physician, Alfred Boulware supervised the operation of his plantation where his 
interests abounded in a diverse range of crops and livestock. Indeed, the 1860 Population Census Schedule reveals 
for the fust time that Boulware was a prosperous slaveholding tobacco planter. The census recorder noted 
Boulware's age as 3 1 years and listed him as a farmer. The value of his real estate was $32,000 and his personal 
property was worth $30,000. Residing at La Vista, besides Ann, his wife, there were three children, ages five 
months to four y e a ,  and his mother, Harriet. Boulware owned 39 slaves and the census enumerator observed the 
property's eight slave houses (no longer standing). Boulwarcwas the top tobacco producer in St. George's Parish, 
now Lee Hill District, producing 20,000 pounds and owning the most horses, twenty-two. Other items harvested 
from the previous ear included 1,500 bushels of Indian corn, 2,400 bushels of wheat, 20 tons of hay, and 400 Y pounds of butter.' Boulware lived at La Vista from 1857 until his death in 1870. 

During the Civil War, the Boulwares occupied La Vista and contributed their services in helping the 
Confederate army. Between the Banle of Fredericksburg in December 1862 and Battle of Spotsylvania Coun House 
in May 1864, hundreds of sick and wounded troops traveled down the Guinea Station Road to the train depot in 
Guinea. In fact, General Thomas "Stonewall" Jackson who had been mortally wounded at the Battle of 
Chancellorsville in May 1863, was taken by ambulance to Fairfield plantation, approximately four miles south and 
east of La Vista. After the Battle of Spotsylvania Coua House, four corps of the Union m y  under Grant and 
Meade marched down the Guinea Road. 

After the war, the Boulwares devoted much of their time and energy to caring for the poor and honoring 
the Confederate dead. Alfred was appointed to head a commission that oversaw a program to distribute Federal 
rations to Spotsylvania County's poor. AM established and became the first president of the Ladies Memorial 
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Society of Spotsylvania. In this capacity she oversaw local efforts to obtain land for the purpose of a burial ground, 
to remove the dead Confederate soldiers from nearby battlefields, and to decorate and honor the deceased heroes at 
Spotsylvania Court ~ 0 u s e . I ~  

With keen foresight Mrs. Boulware accepted from Dr. Thomas Chandler, owner of Fairfield, the death bed 
of General Thomas "Stonewall" Jackson. With the bed, she received instructions to sell it. The proceeds were to go 
towards fundraising efforts because the Spotsylvania women had to pay for the removal of the dead soldiers from 
the nearby battlefields. Fortunately, the money was raised without the need to sell the bed. The bed upon which 
Jackson died remained at La Vista until 1900." 

La Vista survived the war, and the Boulwares, like many others, encountered fmancial difficulties in the 
late 1860s. The family continued to farm the land which then contained about 1014 acres.'' However, on March 20, 
1870, Alfred died, from dropsy, and without a wi11.I9 

Alfred Boulware's estate at the time of his death exemplifies many landowners in Virginia during the post 
Civil War period. A visit by the census enumerator in June 1870 exposes a profile of the forever changed economic 
and social system that La ~ ' i s t a  once represented. At age 42, Ann was listed as a farmer (not a widow), her real 
estate valued at $6,760 and the value of her personal property listed at only $600. The only child surviving the war 
years was I. McCalla Boulware, age 12. For the agricultural year of 1869, the crops totaled 3000 bushels of Indian 
corn, 450 bushels of winter wheat, 450 bushels of rye, and 350 bushels of oats. Without the work force to feed 
anymore, the numbers for other mainstays such as butter (200 pounds), potatoes (50 bushels of Irish and 10 bushels 
of sweet) and the value of slaughtered animals ($200) were lower than the levels for 1860. Decidedly different are 
the numbers of livestock as well. The barn housed only three hones, ten mules/asses, eight milk cows, 4 working 
oxen, six other cattle and in the sty, there were eighteen swine. The value of the livestock was $1,750. Mrs. 
Boulware still retained approximately 750 acres of improved lands while 1050 acres were considered unimproved. 
Lastly, the cash value of the farm was 30,000 dollars with implements worth only $150. Wages that had been paid 
out in the previous year totaled one thousand do~lars?~ 

Within a couple of months after his father's death, 1. McCalla Boulware's guardian was forced to sue Ann 
Bouhvare for the son's share of the vast estate?' The County Board of Commissioners stepped in and the property 
was surveyed in May 1870. Later, the commissioners divided the estate: Mrs. Boulware received the widow's dower 
of one third of the property which included the house, (as was the custom at that time) while her son received the 
bulk of the land. From this point on, the fann known as La Vista was reduced to 340 acres and would remain that 
way until the early 1960s .~  

Mrs. Boulware died prematurely on December 22, 1873 at the age of forty-five. She died intestate and in 
the late spring of 1874, her personal property was inventoried and appraised by the commissioners. Items of greatest 
value included the heirloom piano at $150, and three of the horses at 100 dollars a piece. The entire contents were 
valued at $1,449:~ Because he was a minor, McCalla was sent to live and fmish his education with his maternal 
relatives in Rappahannock County. 

At age twenty-two, John McCalla Boulware returned to La Vista. In 1880, the census taker recorded the 
presence of a newlywed couple - - McCalla had wed Ada in the same year - - and noted another family who were 
residents, the Green family. Adelaide, age 40, was listed as the cook and her oldest child at 15, was J.E.B., a laborer. 
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Four other children were listed between the ages of I and 13. There was an older, black laborer, Benjamin, age 44.'4 
Within a few years the estate was fmally settled. 

McCalla Boulware lived at La Vista until May 1, 1902 when he sold the properly to Charles A. ~ecatur." 
McCalla moved to Fredericksburg, lived in a house opposite Kenmore, and ran a seed company in partnership with 
his son. Two years earlier, he followed his mother's wishes by donating General Jackson's bed to General Jackson's 
attending physician, Dr. Hunter McGuue. Dr. McGuire then donated it to the Jackson Memorial Association, an 
early venture which perpetuated the memory of Jackson. The then recently-opened Confederate Museum in 
Richmond stored the bed for twenty-seven years.26 Since 1927, it has been on display in Guinea, at the National 
Park Service-owned Jackson Shrine, where "no spot in all Virginia is more sacred than the little house in which 
Stonewall Jackson breathed his last."" 

La Vista had a series of owners in the fvst decades of the twentieth century. In fact, between 1903 and 
1932, there were thirteen different property owners." On June 7, 1932, the 340-acre parcel and the house was 
purchased by Frederick Kichmier, a retired naval petty officer, and his wife, Bertha, from Brooklyn, New ~ork? '  
Kichmier was responsible for the major renovations to the house in the 1930s and 1940s. Modem utilities were 
installed such as indoor plumbing, electricity, and central heat. The side and rear elevations were extended and 
encased in asbestos shingle. siding. In 1980, Ny River Limited Partnership involving Howard Rooks, a Washington, 
D. C. area developer, and Edgar C. "Butch" W i e r ,  a realtor, purchased the property. It was divided into two 
parcels: a wooded 127-acre tract; and the house which sat on a 213-acre parcel.30 Mr. and Mrs. Wimmer sold La 
Vista on a ten-acre lot on April 27, 1983 to Edward and Michele Schiesser who began to restore many of the 
architectural elements.)' 
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION 

The boundary of the nominated property is delineated by the polygon whose vertices are marked by the following 
UTM reference points: 1 : 18128 174014227300, 2: 18/28 I920142271 80, 3: 18/28 174014227020, 4: 
18128166014227120. 

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION 

The boundary encompasses the historic core of La Vista that retains historic integrity and includes the main 
dwelling, the smokehouse, garage, hen house, windmill, and well. The portions of the original holdings historically 
associated with La Vista that have been sold for residential development have been excluded. 




